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Opinion
PER CURIAM:

Aed El-Saba appeals from the district court’s
denial of his motion to compel discovery and grant of
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summary judgment in favor of his former employer, the
University of South Alabama, in his employment
discrimination and vretaliation suit. After careful
review, we affirm.

I. BACKGROUND

El-Saba, an American citizen born in Lebanon,
was employed as a professor in the Electrical and
Computer Engineering (“ECE”) Department at the
University of South Alabama beginning in 1999.! He
was terminated in 2013 after his request for an
extension of leave was denied.

El-Saba’s career at the University was
successful: he was hired to a tenure-track position,
received pay raises each time raises were awarded to
professors, and was awarded tenure and promoted to
associate professor in 2005. His supervisor was Dr.
John Steadman, Dean of the University’s Engineering
Department (of which the ECE Department was a
part), and it was Steadman who, beginning in 2003,
approved El-Saba’s raises and recommended him for
tenure and promotion. El-Saba, however, believed that
the Department was not treating foreign-born faculty
equally to their American-born counterparts. In the
spring of 2007, he made a chart showing the salaries of
professors in his Department for the years 2003-2007.
He showed the chart to Dr. Mohammed Alam, the ECE
Department Chair, and also presented the chart at a
May 2007 faculty meeting. At the meeting, at which
Alam was present, El-Saba distributed the chart and
alleged that the Department’s raises were racist
because native-born, native-English-speaking
professors received greater raises than foreign-born
professors.2
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Steadman was not present at the meeting when
El-Saba distributed the chart and made allegations
about racism in the Department. Nor did El-Saba ever
speak directly to Steadman about his salary, any
apparent discrepancies, or discrimination he believed
existed. After the meeting, however, Alam showed the
chart to Steadman and told him about El-Saba’s
assertion that the Department’s salaries were
discriminatory.

Later that year, Steadman attended at least two
faculty meetings relevant to this appeal. At one, a
faculty member raised concern about the pay
discrepancies discussed at the May meeting; Steadman
responded by explaining that he strictly followed the
University’s rules in *642 recommending salary
increases.2 At another, Steadman allegedly said that he
wanted to change the demographics of the Engineering
Department and that he preferred native-born, natural
English-speakers.t El-Saba responded by accusing
Steadman of discrimination and racism at ECE
department meetings and faculty search committee
meetings in 2008. Steadman was not at these meetings
but was nonetheless aware of some of El-Saba’s
complaints.

El-Saba asserted that other incidents transpired
over the following semesters evidencing Steadman’s
discriminatory animus. El-Saba requested a medical
leave of absence for the entire fall semester of 2008 to
have several dental surgeries, but, after meeting with
Steadman, Alam, and other representatives from the
University’s human resources department, was granted
only a limited leave from August 29 through October
21. In 2010, El-Saba was the sole nominee of the
Engineering Department’s Excellence in Research
Award, but the award committee—of which Steadman
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was not a member or influencer—declined to give the
award to any faculty member. El-Saba believed that
Steadman was responsible for cancellation of the award
and said as much in an April faculty meeting; Steadman
replied that the committee decided there would be no
award that year because the quality of the research was
not of a level warranting recognition. El-Saba accused
Steadman of cancelling the award to punish him for his
previous complaints. El-Saba left the meeting, but
Steadman stayed and told Alam, also present at the
meeting, that it seemed like El-Saba was unhappy at
the University and that he hoped El-Saba would find a
position elsewhere and leave. El-Saba testified that
Alam told him Steadman said, “I’ll make it so tough on
[El-Saba], he’ll have to resign.” Doc. 66-1 at 102.

During the fall semester of 2011, El-Saba gave
an interview to an EEOC investigator concerning a
claim filed by a colleague against the University. In the
interview, El-Saba accused Steadman of racism based
on, among other things, Steadman’s statements about a
desire to change the Department’s demographics and
about preferring native-born, natural-English speaking
faculty and alleged salary and raise discrepancies in the
ECE Department. Also in the fall of 2011, El-Saba met
with Dr. Russ Lea, the Vice President of Research at
the University, to discuss the issues he had with
Steadman. In early 2012, he met with the University’s
general counsel, Jean Tucker, concerning Steadman’s
aforementioned statements and his purported
cancellation of the research award. El-Saba offered no
evidence that Steadman knew about any of these
meetings or what was said during them.

El-Saba was on leave for most of his final two
years at the University. After meeting with Alam,
Steadman, and the University’s human resources
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department, El-Saba was granted family medical leave
for Fridays during the fall 2011 semester to take his
wife to chemotherapy treatments. His course load and
salary was adjusted based on his leave. Due to his
wife’s ongoing medical issues and his own medical
problems (he had suffered a heart attack), El-Saba
requested a one year leave of absence spanning the fall
2012 and *643 spring 2013 semesters. Steadman
recommended approval of the request, and it was
granted by Dr. David Johnson, Senior Vice President
for Academic Affairs.

El-Saba suffered another heart attack in July
2013 while overseas. He sent an email to Alam notifying
him of the heart attack, explaining that his doctor had
recommended open-heart surgery, and requesting an
additional one-year unpaid medical leave of absence.?
Alam recommended that the leave request be granted
and turned the request over to Steadman. Steadman
sent an email to El-Saba in which he stated that, due to
staffing needs, he could not approve a leave of absence
as lengthy as the one El-Saba had requested. Steadman
asked El-Saba to let him know by August 5 whether or
not he would be available for work on August 15, the
beginning of the fall semester.

On August 5, El-Saba emailed Steadman and
stated that he would be unable to return to the
University until after November 11. Steadman was
away from the office from August 3 through 13, so
Johnson responded to El-Saba’s email. Johnson told El-
Saba that, due to staffing needs, the University could
not grant his request for a one year leave of absence.
Johnson further stated that, for the University to
consider granting El-Saba a leave of absence for the fall
2013 semester only, El-Saba would need to provide a
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statement from his physician by August 12 stating that
he would be able to return to work on January 2, 2014.

On August 13, El-Saba sent Johnson an email to
which he attached a “Sick Leave Certificate” stating
that he was “fit to work from 01-01-2014.” Doc. 66-1 at
283. The email also stated that a more detailed report
would follow. On August 15, El-Saba emailed Johnson a
more detailed medical report. The report, dated August
14, detailed El-Saba’s treatment and stated that he was
“fit to resume his routine work.” Doc. 66-1 at 292.
Johnson reviewed the documentation and consulted
with Steadman on more than one occasion about El-
Saba’s request. Johnson and Steadman’s review
resulted in the decision that El-Saba’s leave request
was medically unnecessary. Johnson had no knowledge
that El-Saba had accused Steadman of discrimination.

On August 20, Steadman replied to El-Saba’s
August 15 email and stated that because El-Saba was
fit to work and was not under travel restrictions, a
leave of absence was unnecessary and therefore
unreasonable. Steadman further stated that because
leave had not been granted and El-Saba did not return
to work as required on August 15, he was deemed to
have resigned his position at the University.

El-Saba filed a complaint with the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission alleging that he
was terminated due to illegal discrimination and
retaliation. After receiving notice of a right to sue from
the EEOC, he filed a complaint in district court alleging
that the University terminated his employment based
on his national *644 origin in violation of Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.,
and in retaliation for his ongoing complaints against
Steadman.
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The parties conducted extensive discovery.
Approximately two weeks after the close of discovery,
El-Saba filed a motion to compel in which he sought
production of certain of the University’s attorney notes
and emails; a reopening of discovery as to Steadman,
Johnson, and  in-house  University  counsel;
disqualification of defense counsel; and a reopening of
Alam’s deposition. A magistrate judge denied the
motion, finding that it was untimely and that—because
El-Saba never moved for an extension of the discovery
deadline before the close of discovery, waited until very
late in the discovery period to take contentious
depositions, and waited almost two weeks after the
close of discovery to file the motion to compel—he had
not shown diligence justifying the filing of his out of
time motion. The magistrate judge acknowledged that
scheduling orders may be modified for good cause, but,
for these same reasons, found no such cause.

As an alternative ground for denying the motion,
the magistrate judge explained that El-Saba’s motion
failed to include a certification that he had conferred in
good faith with the University in an attempt to resolve
the dispute without court action as required by Rule 37
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. See Fed. R.
Civ. P. 37(a)(1) (requiring a party moving for an order
compelling discovery to certify that he “has in good
faith conferred or attempted to confer” with the
opposing party “without court action”). The magistrate
judge also denied El-Saba’s motion for reconsideration.
Finding no error in the magistrate judge’s orders, the
district court affirmed the denial of El-Saba’s motion to
compel.

Upon the University’s motion, the district court
granted summary judgment in favor of the University.?
As to El-Saba’s discrimination claim, the district court
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acknowledged the evidence in the record that
Steadman wanted to hire more native-born applicants.
Nonetheless, the court concluded that El-Saba’s claim
failed because it was undisputed that Johnson was the
ultimate decisionmaker as to El-Saba’s termination and
because El-Saba failed to present evidence that
Johnson had any discriminatory intent or that his
decision was impacted by Steadman’s alleged
discriminatory animus. In the alternative, the district
court concluded that the University had proffered a
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for El-Saba’s
termination—that El-Saba failed to report to work
despite his medical leave request being denied as
medically unnecessary—and El-Saba failed to show
that this reason was pretextual.

As to El-Saba’s retaliation claim, the district
court applied the McDonnell Douglas burden shifting
framework.2 The court assumed that El-Saba had
engaged in protected activity and determined that his
termination constituted an adverse employment action.
But, the court concluded, he failed to show that but for
his participation in the protected activities, he would
not have been terminated because the alleged protected
activities known to Steadman *645 were too remote in
time to establish the causation of his termination and, in
any event, Johnson was the ultimate decisionmaker.
Alternatively, the district court—relying on its
previous findings—concluded that El-Saba failed to
rebut the University’s proffered legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for his termination.

This is El-Saba’s appeal.

II. STANDARDS OF REVIEW
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We review for an abuse of discretion a district
court’s denial of a motion to compel discovery.
Holloman v. Mail-Well Corp., 443 F.3d 832, 837 (11th
Cir. 2006). “This means that a district court is allowed a
range of choice in such matters, and we will not second-
guess the district court’s actions unless they reflect a
clear error of judgment.” Id. (internal quotation marks
omitted). We have “often held that a district court’s
decision to hold litigants to the clear terms of its
scheduling orders is not an abuse of discretion.”
Josendis v. Wall to Wall Residence Repairs, Inc., 662
F.3d 1292, 1307 (11th Cir. 2011).

We review an order granting summary
judgment de novo, applying the same standard the
district court employed. Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of
Fla. v. United States, 566 F.3d 1257, 1264 (11th Cir.
2009). Summary judgment is appropriate “if the movant
shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any
material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as
a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). We view all
evidence and draw all inferences in the light most
favorable to the nonmovant, here, El-Saba. Anderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 91
L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). “An issue of fact is ‘material’ if,
under the applicable substantive law, it might affect the
outcome of the case. An issue of fact is ‘genuine’ if the
record taken as a whole could lead a rational trier of
fact to find for the nonmoving party.” Harrison v.
Culliver, 746 F.3d 1288, 1298 (11th Cir. 2014) (internal
quotation marks omitted).

ITI. DISCUSSION

A. Motion to Compel
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El-Saba contends that the district court abused
its discretion in denying his motion to compel. Although
he acknowledges that his motion was untimely, he
argues that the magistrate judge and district court
failed to obtain “any factual input” from him before
denying the motion. Appellant’s Br. at 39. He also
argues that the magistrate judge erroneously treated
the motion to compel as only requesting an extension of
the dispositive motions deadline, rather than as
requesting an extension of the discovery deadline.
Moreover, El-Saba asserts that his failure to attach a
certification regarding conferral with opposing counsel
was an insufficient reason to deny his motion to compel.
1The district court was well within its discretion to
deny El-Saba’s motion to compel as untimely based on
the magistrate judge’s reasoned order. By El-Saba’s
own admission, the motion was filed almost two weeks
after the close of discovery and therefore was untimely.
As the magistrate judge noted, El-Saba gave no
reasonable excuse why he did not move to extend the
discovery deadline earlier. As to El-Saba’s first
argument, the magistrate judge had before her El-
Saba’s motion and had entertained discovery disputes
between the parties previously; therefore, it cannot be
said that El-Saba’s “factual input” was not considered.
Furthermore, although the magistrate judge noted that
El-Saba had not technically moved for an extension of
discovery, the order denying the motion to compel does
not rest on this technicality; rather, the magistrate
judge expressly acknowledged that El-Saba wished to
extend *646 discovery beyond the deadline. Finally, the
court was within its discretion to consider El-Saba’s
failure to certify that he had conferred with opposing
counsel; El-Saba had run afoul of Rule 37’s requirement
that the parties make a good faith effort to resolve any



11a
discovery disputes without court intervention. See
Holloman, 443 F.3d at 843-44 (finding no abuse of
discretion when district court denied discovery motions
“based on what it termed a failure to work with the
defendants in good faith”).2

B. Summary Judgment

El-Saba argues that the district court erred in
granting summary judgment in favor of the University
on both of his claims. Specifically, he argues that the
district court erred in concluding that Johnson was the
ultimate decisionmaker as to his termination and that
he failed to demonstrate pretext.

We are unpersuaded that the district court
committed reversible error. The district court correctly
determined that El-Saba failed to show that the
University’s proffered legitimate nondiscriminatory
reason for his termination was pretext. This conclusion
defeats his retaliation claim as a matter of law. A
demonstration of pretext is not in all cases necessary to
show discrimination; however, given the University’s
proffered reason for El-Saba’s termination and that El-
Saba failed to present evidence of pretext, he cannot
show that a reasonable jury could conclude he was
terminated because of his national origin. Thus, we
need not address whether the district court correctly
determined that Johnson was the sole decisionmaker in
El-Saba’s termination.

Under Title VII, it is unlawful for an employer
to “discharge any individual, or otherwise to
discriminate against any individual with respect to his
compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of
employment, because of such individual’s ... national
origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1). It is also unlawful
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under the statute to retaliate against an employee
because he has opposed “an unlawful employment
practice ... or because he has made a charge, testified,
assisted, or participated in any manner in an
investigation, proceeding, or hearing.” Id. § 2000e-3(a).
A plaintiff may overcome a motion for summary
judgment on his Title VII claims by satisfying the
McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting framework. See
EEOC v. Joe’s Stone Crabs, Inc., 296 F.3d 1265, 1272-73
(11th CGir. 2002). Under that framework, the plaintiff
must establish a prima facie case of discrimination or
retaliation, at which point the burden shifts to the
employer to show a legitimate, nondiscriminatory
reason for the adverse employment action. Id. If the
employer meets its burden, the burden once again
shifts to the plaintiff to show that the employer’s
proffered reason was pretextual. Id. We have said,
however, that a plaintiff need not establish each of the
McDonmnell Douglas elements to survive summary
judgment; rather, he may do so where he presents “a
convinecing mosaic of circumstantial evidence that
would allow a jury to infer intentional discrimination by
the decisionmaker.” Smith v. Lockheed-Martin Corp.,
644 F.3d 1321, 1328 (11th Cir. 2011) (internal quotation
marks omitted).

The University offered ample evidence that the
decision to terminate El-Saba was made because he
failed to return to work after his medical leave request,
which was unsupported by evidence of medical need,
was denied.l’ The district court concluded that El-Saba
failed to show that this proffered legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason was pretextual, and we
agree. El-Saba argues that his numerous complaints
about Steadman’s allegedly discriminatory animus were
the real reason for his termination. But the last
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documented  complaint El-Saba made about
Steadman—to the University’s general counsel—was in
early 2012, approximately a year and a half before his
final leave request was denied and his employment
terminated. Even assuming Steadman (and/or Johnson)
knew of this complaint—an assumption that lacks
evidentiary support—this complaint, and the others
before it, were simply too remote to bear any temporal
relationship to El-Saba’s termination.! See, e.g.,
Maniccia v. Brown, 171 F.3d 1364, 1369-70 (11th Cir.
1999) (explaining that gaps of 15 and 21 months
between protected activity and adverse employment
actions showed “no temporal relationship” between the
two). Given the temporal distance between his
complaints and termination, without more, no rational
trier of fact would conclude that the complaints were
the real reason for his termination. Harrison, 746 F.3d
at 1298; see also Thomas v. Cooper Lighting, Inc., 506
F.3d 1361, 1364 (11th Gir. 2007) (“[I]n the absence of
other evidence tending to show causation, if there is a
substantial delay between the protected expression and
the adverse action, the complaint of retaliation fails as a
matter of law.”). Thus, under the undisputed facts of
this case El-Saba has failed to demonstrate the
existence of a genuine issue of material fact regarding
whether the University’s well-documented, stated
reason for his termination was pretext for
discriminatory animus or retaliation. Harrison, 746
F.3d at 1298.

Although a plaintiff alleging discrimination is not
required to conform to the McDonnell Douglas
framework to overcome a motion for summary
judgment,2 here El-Saba’s failure to rebut the
University’s *648 asserted legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for his termination is fatal to
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his “convincing mosaic” theory. In light of the
University’s unrebutted legitimate reason for El-Saba’s
dismissal, no reasonable jury would find that he was
terminated due to intentional discrimination. Smith,
644 F.3d at 1328.

In sum, the district court was correct to grant
summary judgment in favor of the University.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we affirm the district
court’s denial of El-Saba’s motion to compel discovery
and grant of the University’s motion for summary
judgment.

AFFIRMED.
Footnotes

1Because we write for the parties, we assume their
familiarity with the underlying facts and recite only
what is necessary to resolve this appeal.

2As the district court explained in its summary
judgment order, at least some of the discrepancies in
salary accounted for differences in hire dates and
faculty responsibilities.

3E1-Saba does not argue that the University’s salary
rules were discriminatory in intent or effect.
4Steadman testified that he did not recall making these
comments. For purposes of reviewing the district
court’s summary judgment order, we accept El-Saba’s
testimony that Steadman made the comments. See
mfra Part 11.

5As the district court explained, it is undisputed that
by the time El-Saba sent the email, he had been treated
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via an alternative procedure, released from the
hospital, and was no longer under recommendation for
open-heart surgery. See Doc. 96 at 16 & n.5.
61t is undisputed that, since Steadman’s appointment as
Dean, Steadman recommended and El-Saba was
granted more leave of absence time than any other
College of Engineering faculty member had ever been
given. Moreover, the record contains no evidence that
any other faculty member failed to return to or be
available for work on the faculty reporting date without
preapproval.
TThe district court preliminarily made several
evidentiary rulings, two of which El-Saba challenges on
appeal. We need not determine whether these
evidentiary rulings were in error because, even
considering the challenged evidence, we conclude that
El-Saba has not shown that there is a genuine issue of
material fact as to his discrimination and retaliation
claims.
8See McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792,
93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L..E£d.2d 668 (1973); infra Part I11.B.
9El-Saba relatedly contends that the magistrate judge
should have granted his motion for reconsideration,
arguing that the denial of his motion to compel in light
of alleged discovery abuses by the University worked a
manifest injustice. We cannot agree. Discovery
undoubtedly was contentious in this case; however,
upon a review of the record we see none of the
University’s actions as abusive such that manifest
injustice would have resulted from the denial of El-
Saba’s motion to compel.
10We are unconvinced by El-Saba’s argument that the
district court erred in looking solely to the August 14
medical report. Our review of the email correspondence
between El-Saba, Johnson, and Steadman clearly
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demonstrates that this report, which did not directly
conflict with the one sent on August 13 stating that El-
Saba was “fit to work from 01-01-2014,” was intended to
be the more thorough, final report from El-Saba’s
doctor. In any event, even if Steadman and Johnson
misinterpreted the two medical reports, their
mistake—without other evidence of discrimination—
does not amount to pretext. Flowers v. Troup Cty., Ga.,
Sch. Dist., 803 F.3d 1327, 1338 (11th Cir. 2015) (“[An
employer is] free to fire [its] employees for a good
reason, a bad reason, a reason based on erroneous facts,
or for no reason at all, as long as its action is not for a
discriminatory reason.” (internal quotation marks
omitted) ).
11El-Saba argues that because he was away on leave
for most of the time between his statements to the
University’s general counsel in early 2012 and his
request for a year-long leave in August 2013, the
August 2013 leave request presented Steadman with
his first opportunity to unlawfully terminate him. The
record does not support El-Saba’s position. After his
early 2012 statements, El-Saba requested a one year
leave of absence beginning in fall 2012, and it was
Steadman’s job to review the request. Rather than
terminating him then, Steadman recommended
approving El-Saba’s leave request (a recommendation
Johnson accepted).
12El-Saba did not argue before the district court, nor
does he argue now, that he can satisfy the McDonnell
Douglas burden-shifting framework as to his
discrimination claim. See McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S.
at 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817. Thus, we need consider only
whether he can satisfy the “convincing mosaic” theory.
See Smith, 644 F.3d at 1328 (explaining both ways to
withstand a motion for summary judgment).
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ORDER

KRISTI K. DuBOSE, UNITED STATES DISTRICT
JUDGE

This matter is before the Court on Defendant's
Motion for Summary Judgment and Supporting Brief
(Doc. 65), Plaintiff's Response to Motion for Summary
Judgment (Doc. 77), Defendant's Summary Judgment
Reply Brief (Doc. 86), Plaintiff's Supplemental
Response (Doec. 90-2), Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's
Suppemental Response (Doc. 94-1), Defendant's
Evidentiary Objections to Plaintiff's Summary
Judgment Response and Declaration (Doc. 87), and
Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant's Evidentiary
Objections (Doc. 89). The Court finds that Defendant's
Objections to Plaintiff's Summary Judgment Response
and Declaration are SUSTAINED in part,
OVERRULED in part, and MOOT in part, as set
forth herein. Upon consideration of the parties' briefs,
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all evidentiary materials submitted, and the relevant
law, the Court finds that Defendant's Motion for
Summary Judgment is due to be GRANTED.

I. Introduction

Plaintiff Aed El-Saba, who was born in Lebanon
and became a naturalized United States citizen in 1991,
was employed as a professor in the Electrical and
Computer Engineering Department (“ECE”) at the
University of South Alabama (“USA”) from 1999 until
August 20, 2013. (Doc. 1 at 1; Doc. 66-1 at 29, 293).
Plaintiff filed a complaint with the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) alleging that his
termination! was due to illegal discrimination; he
received notice of a right to sue from the EEOC on
November 24, 2014. (Doc. 1 at 1). He filed the complaint
in this action on February 18, 2015, asserting that USA
terminated his employment for a discriminatory reason,
his national origin, in violation of Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., as
amended, and in retaliation for his ongoing complaints
that the Dean of Engineering discriminated based on
national origin. (Doc. 1). Defendant filed its Motion for
Summary Judgment on August 17, 2016 seeking
judgment in its favor on the ground that Plaintiff has
not submitted sufficient evidence that his termination
was based on his national origin or in retaliation for any
protected activity. (Doc. 65).

I1. Evidentiary Objections

Per Rule 56(c)(2) of The Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, “[a] party may object that the material cited
to support or dispute a fact cannot be presented in a
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form that would be admissible in evidence.” The
Advisory Committee Notes specify that “[t]he burden
is on the propoment to show that the material is
admissible as presented or to explain the admissible
form that is anticipated.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, Adw.
Comm. Notes, “Subdivision(c)” (2010 Amendments)
(emphasis added); accord Wilkinson v. Carnival Cruise
Lines, Inc., 920 F.2d 1560, 1566-67 (11" Cir.
1991)(holding that it was reversible error for District
Court to admit employee's testimony under Rule
801(d)(2)(D) where “plaintiff has offered not one whit of
evidence ... to lay a predicate for the admissibility of the
statement”). As grounds for its objections, Defendant
contends that certain portions of the evidence relied
upon by Plaintiff in opposing summary judgment
contains inadmissible hearsay or is otherwise
inadmissible. (Doc. 87).

A. Plaintiff's Declaration

Defendant objects to several statements set
forth in Plaintiff's Declaration. (Doc. 79-4 at 10-16).
Defendant objects to Plaintiff's testimony about what
others knew about the components of raises, as set
forth in Doec. 79-4 at 10, § 2, on the grounds that such
testimony is not based on Plaintiff's personal
knowledge, is hearsay and/or is speculative. Plaintiff
agrees that such testimony is not admissible because he
does not identify the declarants. This objection is
SUSTAINED.

Defendant objects to § 5 of the Declaration as
hearsay. In ¥ 5, Plaintiff states that, by October of 2006,
he (El-Saba) was aware that Dr. Steadman, the Dean of
USA's College of Engineering, had stated during an
ECE faculty search committee meeting that he (Dr.
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Steadman) was going to change the demographics of
the ECE department. (Doc. 79-4 at 10, § 5). Plaintiff
admits that he never personally heard Steadman make
such a remark. (Doc. 66-1 at 29-30). However, Dr.
Rahman, another faculty member, testified that he
heard Dr. Steadman make the statement. (Doc. 79-5 at
10). Thus, the statement would be admissible through
the testimony of Rahman. The objection to § 5 is
OVERRULED.

Defendant also objects to Plaintiff's and any
other witness's explanation or characterization of
Steadman's demographic statement without
designating specific testimony. Because the Court has
not considered any such evidence, this objection is
MOOT.

Paragraphs 8 and 9 describe conversations El-
Saba had with a fellow faculty member, Dr. Byrne,
about another faculty member, Dr. Brothers. (Doc. 79-4
at 10-11, Y9 8, 9). Defendant points out that Byrne's
deposition testimony differed from  Plaintiff's
recollection and argues that the evidence is hearsay
that cannot be reduced to admissible form at trial. In
response, Plaintiff simply argues that “[ilt is a
statement by an opposing party and admissible.” (Doc.
89 at 2).

Rule 801(d)2)(D) of the Federal Rules of
Evidence provides that a statement is not hearsay if it
“is offered against an opposing party and ... was made
by the party's agent or employee on a matter within the
scope of that relationship and while it existed.” As set
forth above, “[t]he burden is on the proponent ... to
explain the admissible form that is anticipated.”
Although Plaintiff states that Byrne is “an opposing
party” and the record shows that Byrne was a fellow
faculty member in the ECE department, Plaintiff has
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not asserted that, or described how, Byrne's alleged
statements to Plaintiff were made in the scope of his
employment with Defendant. See Wilkinson, 920 F.2d
at 1566-67; Riley v. Univ. of Ala. Health Servs. Found.,
990 F. Supp. 2d 1177, 1191 (N.D. Ala. 2014) (objection
sustained where plaintiff did not establish that the
statement concerned “a matter within the scope of
[declarant's] relationship” with the defendant).
Nonetheless, it appears that Byrne's statements were
made in his capacity as chairman of the search
committee and as such may be admissible. The
objection is OVERRULED.

Paragraphs 10 and 11 contain Plaintiff's
statements about what Dr. Alam, the chair of the ECE
department, and Dr. Adams, another faculty member,
told him about incentives and salary offered and/or paid
to Adams. (Doc. 79-4 at 11, 1Y 10, 11). Plaintiff argues
that these statements should be admitted pursuant to
Rule 801(d)(2)(D); however, he does not show how
these statements were made to him within the scope of
the declarants' employment. It appears that Alam was
speaking in his capacity as the chair of the ECE
department, and thus, his statement appears to be
admissible. However, there is no evident basis to admit
Adams's statements. Moreover, Plaintiff's argument
that Rule 803(3) supports the admission of Adams's
testimony because it reveals his state of mind also fails
because Adams's state of mind is not relevant to this
case. Defendant's objection to 10 is OVERRULED,
and its objection to § 11 is SUSTAINED.

Defendant argues that Plaintiff's statements in
17 of his Declaration concerning Alam's discussion with
Plaintiff of Steadman's directive concerning the dates
to include in his evaluation constitute double hearsay.
(Doc. 79-4 at 12, § 17). However, the record supports a




22a

finding that both Alam's and Steadman's statements
were made within the scope of their employment with
Defendant in connection with Plaintiff's employment
evaluation. Because the evidence is apparent from the
record, the Court will take note of and consider the
evidence? As to the statements in § 17 of the
Declaration, Defendant's objection is OVERRULED.

B. Other Evidence

Defendant objects to “statements made by any
non-party reflected in the meeting minutes” contained
in Plaintiff's Exhibits C and D. (Doc. 79-8; Doc. 79-9).
Defendant does not specify the statements to which it
objects. These exhibits consist of minutes of the ECE
department faculty meetings and the ECE faculty
search committee meetings. Minutes are obviously
based on statements made by the attendees. From
what the Court can glean, all participants at these
meetings were employed by Defendant and,
presumably, anything that was recorded would have
been stated by them within the course of their
employment. Because of the vagueness and lack of
specificity of the objection, the fact that some of the
statements would appear to fall within exceptions to
the hearsay rule, and the indicia of trustworthiness
attendant to minutes that are subsequently approved
by vote of the committee members, the objection to
Exhibits C and D is OVERRULED.

Defendant objects to the statement by Byrne,
the chair of the ECE faculty search committee, that
Alam told him that Steadman stated that he preferred
that the search committee consider native-born, natural
English-speaking applicants. (Doe. 79-2 at T7-8).
Defendant claims that this statement is double hearsay.
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Plaintiff argues that this statement is non-hearsay
pursuant to 801(d)(2)(D). As noted above, Plaintiff
proffers no evidence concerning whether this statement
was made within the scope of employment. However,
the record shows that both Alam's and Steadman's
statements, although disputed by Steadman, would
have been made within the scope of their employment
with Defendant, specifically with regard to their roles
in faculty searches. Defendant's objection to Byrne's
testimony is OVERRULED.

Defendant objects to “Khan's testimony
regarding what Russ said.” Because no such testimony
has been located by the Court, this objection is MOOT.

Defendant objects to Plaintiff's testimony that
Alam told him that Steadman said he would make it so
hard or tough on Plaintiff that he would have to resign.
(Doc. 66-1 at 102-03). Alam allegedly told Plaintiff this
when Plaintiff came to his office to again express his
dismay at not being awarded the Excellence in
Research award. (Doc. 66-1 at 103). Defendant argues
that Steadman's alleged statement is not admissible
because Alam testified that he does not recall
Steadman making the statement or telling Plaintiff that
Steadman made the statement. (Doc. 66-4 at 28-29).
However, whether the statement was made goes to
credibility, not admissibility. The -circumstances of
Plaintiff's discussion with Alam, i.e., to discuss a
department award, would support that Alam repeated
Dr. Steadman's statement in his capacity as chair of the
ECE department. The objectionis OVERRULED.

Defendant objects to the Declaration of Dr.
Sakla, an associate professor in the ECE department, in
which he states that Alam told him on two occasions
that Steadman “seemed to be after Dr. El-Saba and did
not like him.” (Doc. 79-6 at 15). Plaintiff has made no
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showing that these statements were made within the
scope of employment, as opposed to idle gossip, and
there is nothing in the record to support a finding that
these statements were made within the scope of Alam's
employment; therefore, these statements are
inadmissible hearsay. Defendant's objection to Sakla's
Declaration is SUSTAINED.

Defendant objects to Plaintiff's testimony about
what he “learned” that Steadman had said to Alam
about his 2012 leave request as hearsay. (Doc. 79-3 at
31). The Court has not relied on what Plaintiff
“learned” so the objection is MOOT.

Defendant objects to Plaintiff's testimony about
his conversations with Alam concerning his 2013 leave
request. (Doc. 66-1 at 168-69). Alam, as chair of the
ECE department, was the person to whom Plaintiff
was supposed to submit his leave request. Therefore, it
appears that Plaintiff's conversation with Alam about
the request would be non-hearsay pursuant to
801(d)(2)(D). Defendant's objection is OVERRULED.
Defendant objects to Plaintiff's testimony regarding
what Alam told him about discussions Alam had with
Steadman concerning the August 13 and 14 medical
letters. (Doc. 79-4 at 7-8). As both Alam and Steadman
were discussing Plaintiff's employment, the statements
would appear to be non-hearsay. The objection is
OVERRULED.

ITI. Summary Judgment Standard

“The court shall grant summary judgment if the
movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to
any material fact and the movant is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).
Rule 56(c) provides as follows:
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(1) Supporting Factual Positions. A party
asserting that a fact cannot be or is genuinely
disputed must support the assertion by:
(A) citing to particular parts of materials in the
record, including depositions, documents,
electronically stored information, affidavits or
declarations, stipulations (including those made
for purposes of the motion only), admissions,
interrogatory answers, or other materials; or
(B) showing that the materials cited do not
establish the absence or presence of a genuine
dispute, or that an adverse party cannot produce
admissible evidence to support the fact.
(2) Objection That a Fact Is Not Supported by
Admissible Evidence. A party may object that
the material cited to support or dispute a fact
cannot be presented in a form that would be
admissible in evidence.
(3) Materials Not Cited. The court need
consider only the cited materials, but it may
consider other materials in the record.
(4) Affidavits or Declarations. An affidavit or
declaration used to support or oppose a motion
must be made on personal knowledge, set out
facts that would be admissible in evidence, and
show that the affiant or declarant is competent
to testify on the matters stated.

Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 56(c).

Defendant, as the party seeking summary
judgment, bears the “initial responsibility of informing
the district court of the basis for its motion, and
identifying those portions of ‘the pleadings, depositions,
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file,
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together with the affidavits, if any,” which it believes
demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material
fact.” Clark v. Coats & Clark, Inc., 929 F.2d 604, 608
(11* Cir. 1991) (quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477
U.S. 317, 323 (1986)). If the nonmoving party fails to
make “a sufficient showing on an essential element of
her case with respect to which she has the burden of
proof,” the movant is entitled to summary judgment.
Celotex, 477 U.S. at 323. In assessing whether the
nonmoving party has met its burden, “the court must
stop short of weighing the evidence and making
credibility determinations of the truth of the
matter....Instead, ‘[t]he evidence of the non-movant is
to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be
drawn in his favor.” ” Tipton v. Bergrohr GMBH-Siegen,
965 F.2d 994, 998-99 (11*" Cir. 1992).

The mere existence of a factual dispute will not
automatically necessitate denial; rather, only factual
disputes that are material preclude entry of summary
judgment. Lofton v. Sec'y of Dep't of Children &
Family Servs., 358 F.3d 804, 809 (11% Cir. 2004).
Likewise, conclusory allegations are insufficient to
create a genuine issue of material fact and, therefore,
do not suffice to defeat a motion for summary
judgment. See Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1564 n.6
11% Cir. 1997)(“conclusory assertions..., in the absence
of [admissible] supporting evidence, are insufficient to
withstand summary judgment”). “After the nonmoving
party has responded to the motion for summary
judgment, the court must grant summary judgment if
there is no genuine issue of material fact and the
moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of
law.” AGSouth Genetics, LLC v. Cunningham, No. CA
09-745-C, 2011 WL 1833016, at *2 (S.D. Ala. May 13,
2011).
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IV. Facts

The relevant facts, taken in the light most
favorable to Plaintiff, show as follows:

Plaintiff was born in Lebanon, came to the
United States in 1980 to attend college, and became a
naturalized citizen of the United States in 1991. (Doc.
66-1 at 3-5). Plaintiff was hired by The University of
South Alabama (“USA”) in 1999 as a tenure-track
assistant professor in the Electrical and Computer
Engineering department (“ECE”). (Doc. 66-1 at 6).
Plaintiff was terminated in August 2013 after his
request for an extension of leave was denied. (Doc. 66-1
at 293).

Plaintiff believes that Steadman discriminated
against him based on the fact that he is from the Middle
East, when Steadman failed to extend his sick leave
(resulting in termination). (Doc. 66-1 at 21-22). Plaintiff
further complains that Steadman retaliated against him
because he spoke out against Steadman's national
origin bias. (Doc. 66-1 at 22). Plaintiff admits that Dr.
Steadman, the Dean of the College of Engineering, is
the only person at USA who he alleges discriminated or
retaliated against him. (Doc. 66-1 at 18-19). The alleged
discrimination, which lasted approximately 8 years,
affected raises, evaluations, and awards, and was the
source of informal internal complaints by Plaintiff.

The following recitation of facts includes a historical
background of Plaintiff's relationship with USA and
Steadman. Plaintiff relies on alleged instances (between
2005-2010) of unfair treatment by Steadman to show
that Steadman's decision in 2013 to not extend his leave
(resulting in his termination) was the result of national
origin bias. Plaintiff also relies on his complaints
regarding Steadman (made 2007-2012) to show that the
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failure to extend his leave was retaliation for Plaintiff's
criticism of Steadman.

The record indicates that throughout Plaintiff's
employment he received pay raises each time raises
were given to professors. (Doc. 66-1 at 15-16). His
salary was never decreased. (Doc. 66-1 at 15). Plaintiff
was awarded tenure and promoted to associate
professor in 2005. (Doc. 66-1 at 16). Moreover,
Steadman approved each of Plaintiff's raises (after
2003) and recommended him for tenure and promotion.
(Doc. 66-1 at 15-16).

However, Plaintiff did not believe non-native
professors were being treated equally to American-
born professors. In the spring of 2007, Plaintiff made a
chart showing the salaries of professors in the
Department of Engineering for the years 2003-2007.
(Doc. 66-1 at 34, 207-08). He showed the chart to Dr.
Mohammed Alam, the ECE department chair, and
expressed his concern that his salary “was not up to
speed,” especially in comparison to an American-born
professor who had been hired a year before him. (Doc.
66-4 at 21-22; Doc. 66-1 at 74). The American-born
professor with whom Plaintiff compared himself was
hired by USA in August of 1998 and was promoted and
tenured in August of 2004, while Plaintiff was hired in
August of 1999 and was promoted and tenured in
August of 2005. (Doc. 66-9 at 2). In addition to the
American born professor having more seniority than
Plaintiff, this professor was given a raise in 2006 as part
of a salary adjustment for his role as the Graduate
Coordinator for the College. (Doc. 66-9 at 3). In 2005,
2006, and 2007, he, along with three other professors in
the ECE department (Alam, Khan, and Hamid), also
qualified for and received a CUPA adjustment. (Doc.
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66-9 at 3-4). Plaintiff did not meet the qualifications for
this adjustment. (Doc. 66-9 at 4).

At a faculty meeting in or about May of 2007,
Plaintiff distributed the chart and made an allegation
that the raises given to professors from 2004 to 2006
were racist because native-born, natural-English
speaking professors received greater raises than non-
native born professors. (Doc. 66-1 at 32-37). Steadman
was not present at this meeting. (Doc. 66-1 at 34; Doc.
66-2 at 6). Plaintiff never spoke to Steadman about his
salary or the discrepancies and discrimination he
believed existed. (Doc. 66-1 at 39). However, after the
meeting, Alam showed the document to Steadman and
mentioned to him Plaintiff's contention that salaries
were discriminatory. (Doc. 66-4 at 11-13).

On July 20, 2007, Steadman attended the ECE
faculty meeting as a guest, and in response to concern
expressed by Dr. Parker about the faculty raise
discrepancies that had been discussed at the May
meeting, explained that he strictly followed the
University rules to recommend salary raises to the
President. (Doc. 66-1 at 209).2

At an ECE faculty search committee meeting in
2007, Steadman said that he wanted to change the
demographics of the ECE department. (Doc. 66-4 at 21,
Doc. 66-6 at 3; Doc. 66-7 at 3). Steadman also stated he
preferred ‘“native-born, natural English-speakers.”
(Doc. 66-4 at 25-26; Doc.79-5 at 2).4

Steadman testified that, although he does not
remember making the statements, any statement about
changing the demographics would have referred to him
encouraging the hiring of underrepresented minorities,
specifically African Americans and women, in the
engineering department as a whole. (Doc. 66-2 at 4, 8).
Since at least 2005, most of the professors in the ECE
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department have been foreign born. (Doc. 66-6 at 4, 6;
Doc. 66-15 at 6-13).

Plaintiff made complaints in or about 2008 at
search committee meetings and ECE department
meetings that Steadman's alleged statement that he
wanted the ECE department to hire native-born,
natural English-speaking professors was
discriminatory. (Doc. 66-1 at 53-56). Steadman heard
about some of Plaintiff's complaints. For example, after
a faculty meeting was held, which Steadman did not
attend, where Plaintiff was very vocal in calling
Steadman a racist, Steadman asked Alam why he did
not defend him and, specifically, asked why Plaintiff
made those statements. (Doc. 66-4 at 15-16).

Plaintiff requested a leave of absence for the fall
semester of 2008 to have several dental surgeries
performed in Dubai. (Doc. 66-1 at 68). After meeting
with Steadman, Alam, and HR representatives,
Plaintiff was granted leave, but only from August 29,
2008 to October 21, 2008. (Doc. 66-1 at 69). When
Plaintiff was evaluated for Fall 2008 semester,
Steadman directed that the two weeks before his leave
commenced, for which he was paid but had no specific
duties, were to be included in his evaluation. (Doc. 79-4
at 12). This negatively affected his evaluation, and
Plaintiff felt like that evaluation could affect any raise
or promotion that he was due. (Doc. 66-1 at 84-85).
However, USA had a salary freeze for the next three to
four years and Plaintiff did not seek any further
promotions, so the evaluation had no impact on either of
those. (Doc. 66-1 at 85-86).

On April 23, 2010, Plaintiff had a meeting with
Steadman and Alam concerning “cancellation” of the
2010 Excellence in Research Award in the College of
Engineering. (Doc. 66-1 at 93-95). Each year a
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committee made up of past winners and faculty
members from each engineering department evaluates
the portfolios of the nominees and recommends a
winner of the award. (Doc. 66-11 at 2-3). In 2010,
Plaintiff was the only nominee. (Doc. 66-3). After
evaluating Plaintiff's portfolio, the committee thought
he had a weak case, particularly in the areas of external
research funding and publication, and decided
unanimously to not recommend a winner for the award
for 2010. (Doc. 66-11 at 3, 6; Doc. 66-12 at 3; Doc. 66-13
at 2-3). Steadman was not on the committee and had no
input on the selection of recipients for the award. (Doc.
66-9 at 4; Doc. 66-11 at 2-4; Doc. 66-12 at 3; Doc. 66-13 at
2-3). Plaintiff, however, believed that Steadman was
responsible for cancellation of the award because he
was the only nominee, and he expressed that belief in
the April meeting. (Doc. 66-1 at 97-98). Steadman would
not tell him the number of nominees and stated that
there would be no award for 2010 because the quality of
the research did not come to the level to be recognized.
(Doc. 66-1 at 96-99). Plaintiff got upset at the meeting
and told Steadman that he thought Steadman cancelled
the award to punish Plaintiff for his previous
statements. (Doc. 66-1 at 99-100).

After Plaintiff left the meeting, Alam stayed.
(Doc. 66-1 at 100). According to Alam, Steadman told
him that it seemed like Plaintiff was not happy at USA
and that he hoped he would find something else and
leave and not waste his time. (Doc. 66-4 at 27-28). Alam
told Plaintiff that Steadman said he was going to make
it so hard on Plaintiff that he would resign. (Doc. 66-1 at
102-03).

In the fall of 2011, Plaintiff gave an interview to
an EEOC investigator concerning a claim that had been
filed by a colleague against USA. (Doc. 66-1 at 86-87,
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89). In that interview, Plaintiff accused Steadman of
racism based upon the “change the demographics”
statement, the native-born, natural-English speaker
statement, alleged salary discrepancies in the ECE
department, alleged raise discrepancies in the ECE
department, and restrictions placed on hiring applicants
with H1B visas. (Doc. 66-1 at 90-91). Plaintiff offers no
evidence that Steadman knew he gave a statement to
the EEOC investigator or that he knew the content of
the statement.

Plaintiff also met with Dr. Russ Lea, the Vice-
President of Research, in the fall of 2011, to discuss the
issues he had with Steadman. (Doc. 66-1 at 105-107). In
early 2012, Plaintiff met with Jean Tucker, USA's in-
house attorney, concerning Steadman's actions, namely,
the cancellation of the research award, the “changing
the demographics” remark, his desire to hire native-
born, natural-English speaking professors, and the
rejection of applicants with H1B visas. (Doc. 66-1 at
110-11). Plaintiff presumes that Tucker told Steadman
about the meeting because she told him that she
represented the administration (Doc. 66-1 at 112-13),
but he has no evidence that Steadman knew about
either meeting.

Plaintiff was on full or partial leave for much of
his final two years at USA. After communications with
Alam and consultations between Steadman and Human
Resources, Plaintiff was given intermittent FMLA
leave for Fridays during the fall 2011 semester so that
he could take his wife to chemotherapy treatments.
(Doc. 66-1 at 125-131). Plaintiff's course load was
reduced from three courses to two courses for that
semester, and his salary was adjusted accordingly.
(Doc. 66-1 at 125-28). Because of medical issues with his
wife's health and his own due to a heart attack he
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suffered in November of 2011, Plaintiff requested a one-
year leave of absence encompassing the fall of 2012 and
spring of 2013 semesters. (Doc. 66-1 at 136-37).
Steadman recommended approval of that request, and
it was granted by USA. (Doc. 66-1 at 138, 252-53).

During a visit to the United Arab Emirates
(UAE) in July of 2013, Plaintiff suffered a heart attack.
(Doc. 66-1 at 161, 261). Plaintiff initially went to a
physician who opined that open-heart surgery would be
necessary and told Plaintiff that he should not fly to the
United States. (Doc. 66-1 at 163, 262). Because he did
not want open-heart surgery, Plaintiff sought a second
opinion from a prominent doctor in Dubai. (Doec. 66-1 at
164). That doctor recommended placing six stents in the
three blocked arteries in lieu of open-heart surgery;
Plaintiff underwent that procedure in Dubai on July 16,
2013. (Doc. 66-1 at 165, 283). He was released from the
hospital on July 18, 2013. (Doc. 66-1 at 283).

Plaintiff sent an email to Alam on July 22, 2013
telling him about the heart attack and that the doctor
had said he would need open-heart surgery. (Doc. 66-1
at 257-60).2 He also attached a request for an additional
one-year unpaid leave of absence. (Doc. 66-1 at 260).
After this email, Plaintiff had several phone
conversations with Alam in which Alam told him that
he was recommending that Plaintiff's request for leave
be granted and that he would retain the temporary
professor who had worked in the department the
previous year to work again that fall. (Doc. 66-1 at 168-
69). The temporary professor was Dr. Ravi Gollapalli,
who is from India. (Doec. 66-1 at 168, 170; 66-4 at 44-45).
Alam recommended that the request for leave be
granted because of the “clear cut statement from the
physician that [said] he needed open-heart surgery.”
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(Doc. 66-4 at 37). Alam then turned Plaintiff's leave
request over to Steadman. (Doc. 66-4 at 38).

On August 1, 2013, Steadman sent Plaintiff an
email in which he stated that he had received Plaintiff's
request for a one-year unpaid leave of absence, but due
to staffing needs, could not approve that length of time.
(Doc. 66-1 at 280). He also told Plaintiff that he needed
to know within twenty-four hours whether Plaintiff
would be returning by August 15, 2013. (Doc. 66-1 at
280). Plaintiff emailed Steadman the next day stating
that he could not respond within twenty-four hours
because he could not get “proper medical advice” until
the following Monday. (Doc. 66-1 at 279-80). Steadman
replied to Plaintiff that day, August 2, telling him that
he was sorry to hear about his health issues, but that he
had sent the previous message denying Plaintiff's
request for leave after consultation with Academic
Affairs and Human Resources. (Doc. 66-1 at 278).
Steadman gave Plaintiff until August 5 to let him know
whether he would be available for work on August 15.
(Doc. 66-1 at 277).

On August 5, Plaintiff emailed Steadman stating
that, although he was not restricted from traveling, he
had doctor appointments set to monitor his
performance and, therefore, could not return until after
November 11, 2013. (Doc. 66-1 at 277). Because
Steadman was away from August 3 to August 13, 2013,
Dr. Johnson, the Senior Vice-President for Academic
Affairs and ultimate decision-maker, began handling
Plaintiff's request and responded to Plaintiff on August
6. (Doc. 66-1 at 276-78; Doc. 66-10 at 2). Johnson
reiterated to Plaintiff that, because of staffing needs,
USA could not grant his request for another one-year
leave of absence. (Doc. 66-1 at 276). He also told
Plaintiff that in order for USA to consider whether he
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could be granted a leave of absence for the fall
semester, Plaintiff would need to provide a statement
from his physician by August 12, 2013 stating that he
would be able to return to work at USA on January 2,
2014. (Doc. 66-1 at 276-77). On August 13, 2013, Plaintiff
sent an email attaching a “Sick Leave Certificate”
dated August 13, 2013, which stated that Plaintiff
would be fit to work from January 1, 2014, and stating
that a more detailed report was to follow. (Doc. 66-1 at
276, 283). On August 15, Plaintiff emailed the more
detailed report to Johnson. (Doc. 66-1 at 284). That
medical report, dated August 14, 2013, detailed
Plaintiff's treatment and stated that Plaintiff “is doing
well” and “is fit to resume his routine work.” (Doc. 66-1
at 291-92). The documentation provided by Plaintiff and
reviewed by Johnson showed that Plaintiff was fit to
resume work and was under no travel restrictions as of
August 14, 2013, at the latest, but did not intend to
come back to work on August 15, 2013, the faculty start
date. (Doc. 66-10 at 3).

After reviewing the documentation provided by
Plaintiff and consulting with Steadman, Johnson
reached his own conclusion and determined that
Plaintiff's request for an additional period of leave was
not medically necessary and would not be granted.
(Doc. 66-3 at 8-10; Doc. 66-10 at 2). Johnson was the
ultimate decision-maker. (Doc. 66-10 at 2). Neither
Steadman nor Alam had authority to grant a leave of
absence without pay. (Doc. 66-10 at 2-3). Nothing stated
by Steadman influenced Johnson's decision. (Doc. 66-10
at 3).

Johnson was not aware of Steadman having any
ill will or bad motive against Plaintiff. (Doc. 66-10 at 3).
Even if he had been aware of any such animus, he
would have made the same decision to deny Plaintiff's
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request for an extension of his leave and to terminate
him when he did not report to work when his contract
required. (Doc. 66-10 at 3). As Provost, Johnson had
never granted more than one year leave of absence and
doing so would have required extraordinary reasons.
(Id.).

On August 20, 2013, Steadman replied to
Plaintiff's August 15 email, stating that because
Plaintiff was fit to work and had no travel restrictions,
a leave of an entire semester was unnecessary and
would not be considered reasonable. (Doc. 66-1 at 293).
The email further stated that because leave had not
been granted and Plaintiff did not return to work on
August 15, the required start date for Engineering
faculty, it was understood that Plaintiff would not be
performing his faculty duties and was, therefore,
deemed to have resigned his position at USA. (Doc. 66-
1 at 293).

After receiving that email, Plaintiff requested a
meeting with Steadman and Johnson when he was in
the United States. (Doc. 66-1 at 172). Said meeting
occurred on September 19, 2013. (Doc. 66-1 at 174).
During the meeting, Plaintiff discussed his medical
condition, his treatment, and his decision to continue
being treated in Dubai, and he told Steadman and
Johnson that he was there to claim his position back.
(Doc. 66-1 at 174-79). After the meeting, on October 1,
Steadman sent Plaintiff an email advising him that
USA's position had not changed, and he was deemed to
have resigned. (Doc. 66-1 at 299).

Plaintiff is the only faculty member that
Steadman has recommended for even a one-year leave
of absence. (Doc. 66-9 at 6). Previous to Plaintiff's leave,
another ECE faculty member requested a second
semester of leave after having been granted a one-
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semester leave, and Steadman recommended that his
second leave request be denied and his appointment
terminated. (Doc. 66-9 at 6; Doc. 79-12 at 13; Doc. 79-13
at 1). Plaintiff has no evidence of any College of
Engineering faculty member being granted 18 months
or more of leave. (Doc. 66-1 at 152). Since his
appointment as Dean, Steadman recommended and
Plaintiff was granted more leaves of absence than any
other College of Engineering faculty member. (Doc. 66-
9 at 6).

V. Analysis
A. National Origin Claim

Plaintiff alleges that the denial of his leave
request, which resulted in him being deemed to have
resigned in August of 2013, was the result of
discrimination based on his national origin.t (Doc. 77 at
1). Plaintiff may support his claim with direct evidence,
circumstantial evidence, or statistical proof. Rioux v.
City of Atlanta, Ga., 520 F.3d 1269, 1274 (11" Cir. 2008).
Plaintiff has not alleged or submitted direct evidence or
statistical proof in support of his claim. His claim of
national origin discrimination is based solely on
circumstantial evidence.

Where there is only circumstantial evidence of
discrimination, courts apply the framework set forth in
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973).
See, e.g., Chapman v. Al Transp., 229 F.3d 1012, 1024
(11 Cir. 2000). Under McDonnell Douglas, the plaintiff
has the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case
of national origin discrimination. Id. To establish a
prima facie case of discriminatory termination, Plaintiff
must show he was: 1) a member of a protected class; 2)
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qualified for his current position; 3) suffered an adverse
employment action; and 4) replaced by someone outside
his protected class or was treated less favorably than
an individual outside of his protected class. Maynard v.
Board of Regents of the Divs. of Univs. of Fla. Dept. of
Ed., 342 F.3d 1281, 1289 (11* Cir. 2003); Hinson wv.
Clinch Cty., Ga. Bd. of Ed., 231 F.3d 821, 828 (11* Cir.
2000). Plaintiff concedes that he cannot make out a
prima facie case. (Doc. 77 at 38). This is because he
cannot show he was treated less favorably than a
similarly situated employee outside his protected class
or that he was replaced by someone outside his
protected class.

However, the McDonnell Douglas framework is
not the sine qua non for a plaintiff to survive summary
judgment. Smith v. Lockheed-Martin Corp., 644 F.3d
1321, 1328 (11" Cir. 2011). “[T]he plaintiff will always
survive  summary judgment if he presents
circumstantial evidence that creates a triable issue
concerning the employer's discriminatory intent.” Id.
“A triable issue of fact exists if the record, viewed in a
light most favorable to the plaintiff, presents ‘a
convinecing mosaic of circumstantial evidence that
would allow a jury to infer intentional discrimination by
the decisionmaker.” ” Id. (quoting Silverman v. Bd. Of
Educ., 637 F.3d 729, 734 (7™ Cir. 2011)(footnote
omitted)). “An inference ‘is not a suspicion or a guess,’
but rather ‘a reasoned, logical decision to conclude that
a disputed fact exists on the basis of another fact. ”
Knight v. Fourteen D Enters., Inc., 995 F. Supp. 2d
1311, 1334 (S.D. Ala. 2014)(quoting Smith, 644 F.3d at
1328 n. 25). In this case, Plaintiff is relying “solely on
the ‘convincing mosaic’ theory” in support of his
national origin discrimination claim. (Doc. 77 at 38).
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As to Steadman's alleged national origin bias,
there is some support in the record that Steadman
wanted to hire more native-born applicants; Steadman's
statement that he wanted to change the demographics
of the College of Engineering and his alleged directive
to the ECE faculty search committee in or about 2006
to 2007 to seek out native-born, natural-English
speaking applicants.? However, the record also shows
that between the time of Steadman's hiring as Dean
and the time of Plaintiff's termination, both native-born
and foreign-born professors were hired, foreign-born
professors were granted tenure, and foreign-born
professors were given merit raises with Steadman's
approval.

But even if Plaintiff could establish a convincing
mosaic of Steadman's bias against Plaintiff's national
origin, Plaintiff has presented absolutely no evidence
that Johnson, the ultimate decision-maker, harbored
any animus against Plaintiff based on his national
origin. And, Johnson stated that he would have made
the same decision to not extend Plaintiff's leave based
on his independent review, regardless of Steadman's
alleged bias. Plaintiff has failed to present any evidence
to refute this.

Thus, an overall review of the facts, viewed in
the light most favorable to Plaintiff, shows that he has
failed to present sufficient evidence to create a
convinecing mosaic of circumstantial evidence from
which a jury could reasonably infer that Defendant
discriminated against him on the basis of his national
origin.

Finally, even assuming arguendo that Plaintiff
could establish a prima facie case, Defendant has
proffered a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for
his termination which Plaintiff has failed to show is
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pretextual. Plaintiff has offered no evidence that the
proffered reason is false, or that it was motivated by
Plaintiff's national origin. Rather, Plaintiff argues that
a “reasonable” and “prudent” employer would have
extended a tenured professor's leave. “A plaintiff is not
allowed to recast an employer's proffered
nondiscriminatory reasons or substitute his business
judgment for that of the employer.” Chapman, 229 F.3d
at 1030. “Provided that the proffered reason is one that
might motivate a reasonable employer, an employee
must meet that reason head on and rebut it, and the
employee cannot succeed by simply quarreling with the
wisdom of that reason.” Id.

Plaintiff's argument concerning pretext is based
on his personal conclusion that the two medical letters
were confusing and that USA should have resolved the
ambiguity before declining to extend his leave.
However, the detailed medical summary made by
Plaintiff's physician stated that he was fit to return to
work as of August 14, 2013. It was not unreasonable for
Johnson to rely on the letter as written. Put simply,
Plaintiff has failed to satisfy his burden by producing
sufficient evidence indicating that his termination was
due to his national origin. As such, Defendant's motion
for summary judgment as to Plaintiff's national origin
discrimination claim is GRANTED.

B. Retaliation Claim

Plaintiff asserts that Defendant, through
Steadman, retaliated against him by denying his
request for an extension of leave, which resulted in his
termination. Pursuant to Title VII, an employer cannot
discriminate against an employee “because he has
opposed any practice made an unlawful employment
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practice by [Title VII], or because he has made a
charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any
manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing
under [Title VII].” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a). Where, as
here, a plaintiff relies on circumstantial evidence to
prove a Title VII retaliation claim, courts apply the
burden shifting approach articulated in McDonnell
Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973). Trask v.
Secretary, Dept. of Veteran Affairs, 822 F.3d 1179, 1191
(11* Cir. 2016). Under McDonnell Douglas, the plaintiff
has the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case
of discrimination. Id. To establish a prima facie case of
retaliation, the plaintiff must prove that: “(1) [he]
engaged in statutorily protected conduct; (2) [he]
suffered an adverse employment action; and (3) the
adverse action was causally related to the protected
expression.” Id. at 1193-94. If the plaintiff establishes a
prima facie case, a vrebuttable presumption of
discrimination arises. Id. To rebut the presumption of
discrimination, the employer must articulate a
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the action
taken. Id. “If it does so, the burden shifts back to the
plaintiff to produce evidence that the employer's
proffered reasons are a pretext for discrimination.” Id.
“Title VII retaliation claims require proof that ‘[the]
protected activity was a but-for cause of the alleged
adverse action by the employer.” ” Id. at 1194 (quoting
Unwv. of Tex. Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassar, 133 S. Ct. 2517,
2534 (2013)).

As stated above, Plaintiff must first prove a
prima facie case. Plaintiff alleges that he engaged in the
following statutorily protected conduct: (1) complained
that Steadman was a racist and made an allegation that
native-born, English-speaking professors received
greater raises than foreign-born professors at a faculty
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meeting in May of 2007; (2) gave a statement to an
EEOC investigator in the fall of 2011 in connection with
another professor's claim of discrimination against
Steadman; and (3) met with a USA attorney in early
2012 concerning Steadman's actions, namely, the
“changing the demographics” remark, the statements
he made to the faculty search committee concerning
hiring native-born, natural-English speaking professors
and not considering applicants with H1B visas, and the
cancellation of the research award. Defendant has not
disputed that these actions constituted statutorily
protected conduct. Viewing the evidence with regard to
these claims in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, for
purposes of this motion, the Court will conclude that
Plaintiff has met his burden with respect to the first
element of a prima facie case.?

Likewise, the denial of Plaintiff's request for an
extension of his leave and the resulting termination of
his employment was an adverse employment action,
and the parties do not dispute this. See Hurlbert v. St.
Mary's Health Care Sys., Inc., 439 F.3d 1286, 1298 (11t
Cir. 2006); see also Whitt v. Baldwin Cty. Mental
Health Ctr., Civ. A. No. 12-0698-WS-M, 2013 WL
6511856, at *18 (S.D. Ala. Dec. 12, 2013) (“[t]ermination
is of course an adverse employment action”).

To succeed on proving a prima facie case based
on retaliation, Plaintiff must show that the above-
described protected activities were causally related to
the denial of his request for an extension of his leave,
which denial then led to his termination. To satisfy this
prong, Plaintiff must prove that “[the] protected
activity was a but-for cause of the alleged adverse
action by the employer.” Unw. of Tex. Sw. Med. Ctr. v.
Nassar, 133 S. Ct. 2517, 2534 (2013). “That is, the
employee must show that he would not have suffered
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the adverse action if he had not engaged in the
protected conduct.” Long v. Ala. Dep't of Human Res.,
No. 15-10856, 2016 WL 3055829, at *9 (11*" Cir. May 31,
2016).

Although temporal proximity between the
protected activity and the adverse action can establish
an inference of retaliation, the temporal relationship
must be very close. See Brown v. Ala. Dep't of Transp.,
597 F.3d 1160, 1181 (11* Cir. 2010). The Eleventh
Circuit has held that a three-month gap between the
protected conduct and adverse employment action is
insufficient to establish causation on its own. See
Higdon v. Jackson, 393 F.3d 1211, 1221 (11 Cir.
2004)(citing Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Breeden, 532 U.S.
268, 273 (2001)). Moreover, “[i]Jf there is a substantial
delay between the protected expression and the
adverse action in the absence of other evidence tending
to show causation, the complaint of retaliation fails as a
matter of law.” Higdon, 393 F.3d at 1220.

“To establish a causal connection, a plaintiff must
show that the relevant decisionmaker was ‘aware of the
protected conduct, and that the protected activity and
the adverse actions were not wholly unrelated.” ” Kidd
v. Mando Am. Corp., 731 F.3d 1196, 1211 (11*" Cir.
2013)(quoting Shannon v. Bellsouth Telecomm., Inc.,
292 F.3d 712, 716 (11* Cir. 2002)). Johnson has testified
that he was the ultimate decision-maker with regard to
the denial of Plaintiff's leave. There is no evidence that
Johnson was aware of any of the alleged protected
activity. Moreover, although there is evidence that
Steadman was aware of the complaints Plaintiff made
in 2007 and 2008, there is no evidence that Steadman
was aware of Plaintiff's interview with an EEOC
investigator in 2011 or his meeting with counsel for
USA in 2012. Plaintiff presumes that Steadman knew,
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but a presumption by the plaintiff is not sufficient to
prove knowledge by the defendant.

Protected activity that occurred in 2007 and
2008 is too remote from the adverse employment action
in 2013 to establish causation. However, even if
Plaintiff had set forth prima facie proof of
discriminatory retaliation, his claim would fail
Defendant has articulated a legitimate, non-retaliatory
reason for his termination. Specifically, Defendant
denied Plaintiff's request for an extension of his leave
because Johnson and Steadman received a medical
report stating that Plaintiff was able to travel and to
return to work prior to the date slated for faculty to
return for the fall semester.

To overcome Defendant's showing of a
legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for his termination,
Plaintiff must show that the reason was a pretext for
prohibited, retaliatory conduct. An employer's reasons
may be shown to be pretextual “by revealing such
weaknesses, implausibilities, inconsistencies,
incoherencies or contradictions in [its] proffered
legitimate reasons for its actions that a reasonable
factfinder could find them unworthy of credence.”
Springer v. Converqys Customer Mgmt. Grp., 509 F.3d
1344, 1348 (11* Cir. 2007) (internal quotation omitted).
However, a reason cannot be a “pretext for
discrimination unless it is shown both that the reason
was false, and that discrimination was the real reason.”
St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 515 (1993)
(internal quotation omitted). If the reason is one that
might motivate a reasonable employer, a plaintiff
cannot merely recast the reason, but must “meet that
reason head on and rebut it....” Chapman, 229 F.3d at
1030. Pretext must be proven with “concrete evidence
in the form of specific facts...” Bryant v. Jones, 575
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F.3d 1281, 1308 (11t Cir. 2009). “Conclusory allegations
and assertions” will not suffice. Id. That an employer's
decision was subjective, or that it was based on an
unwritten or informal policy subject to differing
interpretations, without more, does not show that it
was pretextual. Conner v. Fort Gordon Bus Co., 761
F.2d 1495, 1501 (11" Cir. 1985). “When a plaintiff
chooses to attack the veracity of the employer's
proffered reason, ‘[the] inquiry is limited to whether
the employer gave an honest explanation of its
behavior.” ” Kragor v. Takeda Pharm. Am., Inc., 702
F.3d 1304, 1310-1311 (11* Cir. 2012)(quoting Elrod wv.
Sears, Roebuck & Co., 939 F.2d 1466, 1470 (11* Cir,
1991)).

For the reasons stated supra, Plaintiff fails to
offer sufficient evidence to support a finding that
Defendant's reason for the denial and subsequent
termination was pretextual. In sum, there is insufficient
evidence before the Court indicating that Defendant's
denial of Plaintiff's leave request and his resulting
deemed resignation was in retaliation for any protected
activity. Thus, Defendant's motion for summary
judgment on Plaintiff's retaliation claim is GRANTED.

VI. Conclusion

For the reasons stated herein, it is ORDERED
that Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc.
65) is GRANTED. It is further ORDERED that
Defendant's Evidentiary Objections to Plaintiff's
Summary Judgment Response and Declaration (Doc.
87) is SUSTAINED in part, OVERRULED in part
and MOOT in part, as detailed supra.

A Final Judgment consistent with the terms of
this Order shall be entered by separate document as
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required by Rule 58 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure.
DONE and ORDERED this 3rd day of November
2016.

Footnotes

1Although Plaintiff was technically deemed to have
resigned when he did not return to work after his leave
expired, Plaintiff at times refers to the end of his
employment with USA as being fired or terminated.
Thus, when the court uses the term “termination,” it is
referring to the denial of Plaintiff's request for an
extension of his leave, which resulted in him being
deemed to have resigned.

2This is but one instance of Plaintiff's repeated failure
to properly support, either factually or legally, his
position or argument. Plaintiff's filings have been
woefully insufficient in this regard. The part of
adversary is to be played by the parties and their
counsel, not the Court.

3USA states that the salary analysis was measurable,
with very little left to discretion. (Doc. 66-9 at 4).
Plaintiff has not offered any evidence to challenge this
statement.

4Steadman does not recall making or denies making
these statements. (Doc. 66-2 at 8-9).

5In this email to Alam, Plaintiff describes the heart
attack, the initial hospital visit, and specifically, the
recommendation for open-heart surgery. Although he
mentions being referred to Dubai Hospital, he fails to
mention that a stent procedure, in lieu of open-heart
surgery, had already been done a week earlier than the
date of the email and that Plaintiff had been released
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from Dubai Hospital four days earlier. (Doc. 66-1 at 257-
58, 291-92).
6Plaintiff does not argue mixed motive. See Quigg v.
Thomas Cty. School Dist., 814 F.3d 1227 (11** Cir. 2016).
7At the time these alleged statements were made,
there was one native-born professor and 13 foreign-
born professors in the ECE department. (Doc. 77 at 7).
8The Court has some doubts concerning whether all of
these activities constitute statutorily protected
conduct. “An employee's speech regarding unfair
employment practices is statutorily protected speech if
the employment practice is made unlawful by Title
VIL.” Gray v. Tri-County Elec. Membership Corp., Civ.
A. No. 5:14-CV-225, 2016 WL 1181701, at * 11 (M.D. Ga.
Mar. 25, 2016). The employee “must have a ‘good faith,
easonable belief’ that [the] employer has engaged in
unlawful discrimination.” Clover v. Total Sys. Servs.,
Inc., 176 F.3d 1346, 1351 (11* Cir. 1999). It does not
appear that all of the complaints Plaintiff expressed to
USA's counsel in early 2012 qualified as statutorily
protected speech versus venting about a Dean with
whom he had differences. However, because Defendant
has not challenged these three occurrences and because
this issue is not determinative of the outcome on
summary judgment, the Court will consider all three
activities.
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ON PETITION(S) FOR REHEARING AND
PETITION(S) FOR REHEARING EN BANC

Before TJOFLAT, JILL PRYOR and NEWSOM,
Circuit Judges.

PER CURIAM:

The Petition(s) for Rehearing are DENIED and no
Judge in regular active service on the Court having
requested that the Court be polled on rehearing en
banc (Rule 35, Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure),
the Petition(s) for Rehearing En Banc are DENIED.

ENTERED FOR THE COURT:

UNITED STATES CIRCUIT JUDGE
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42 U.S. Code
SEC. 2000e-2. [Section 703]
(a) Employer practices

It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an
employer -

(1) to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any
individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any
individual with respect to his compensation, terms,
conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such
individual’s race, color, religion, sex, or national origin

SEC. 2000e-3. [Section 704]

(a) Discrimination for making charges, testifying,
assisting, or participating in enforcement proceedings

It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an
employer to discriminate against any of his employees
or applicants for employment, for an employment
agency, or joint labor--management committee
controlling apprenticeship or other training or
retraining, including on—the-job training programs, to
discriminate against any individual, or for a labor
organization to discriminate against any member
thereof or applicant for membership, because he has
opposed any practice made an unlawful employment
practice by this subchapter, or because he has made a
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charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any
manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing
under this subchapter.

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
Rule 56. Summary Judgment

(a) Motion for Summary Judgment or Partial Summary
Judgment. A party may move for summary judgment,
identifying each claim or defense — or the part of each
claim or defense — on which summary judgment is
sought. The court shall grant summary judgment if the
movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to
any material fact and the movant is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law. The court should state on
the record the reasons for granting or denying the
motion.

RULES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
UNITED STATES

Rule 10. Considerations Governing Review on Writ of
Certiorari

Review on a writ of certiorari is not a matter of right,
but of judicial discretion. A petition for a writ of
certiorari will be granted only for compelling reasons.
The following, although neither controlling nor fully
measuring the Court's discretion, indicate the character
of the reasons the Court considers:
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(a) a United States court of appeals has entered a
decision in conflict with the decision of another United
States court of appeals on the same important matter;
has decided an important federal question in a way that
conflicts with a decision by a state court of last resort;
or has so far departed from the accepted and usual
course of judicial proceedings, or sanctioned such a
departure by a lower court, as to call for an exercise of
this Court's supervisory power



